THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals
Appellate Case No. 2017-002472

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUL 23 2018

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-CP-37-635

Community First Bank, Inc., Appellant,

v.

John Michael Powell, Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James E. McCoy,
MPS Golf Course, Inc., and MPS Development, Inc., Defendants,
Of whom Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr. is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James Edward Bradley, SC Bar #66130
MOORE TAYLOR LAW FIRM, PA
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
Telephone: 803-796-9160
Ward @mttlaw.com

James C. Adams, II, NC Bar #18063
Justin N. Outling, NC Bar #38409

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT SANCTIONED THE BANK FOR NONCOMPLIANCE WITH MANDATES NOT CONTAINED IN ITS ORDER COMPELLING DISCOVERY?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR WHEN IT SANCTIONED THE BANK FOR ALLEGED NON-COMPLIANCE WITH A VAGUE OR UNCLEAR DISCOVERY ORDER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 21, 2015, Appellant Community First Bank (“Community First,” “CFB” or “Bank”) filed this action alleging that Defendants former Bank CEO Fred Shepherd (“Shepherd”)—who is the sole Respondent here—former Bank Board Member James McCoy (“McCoy”), and their business Partner John Powell (“Powell”) conspired, over a 20 year period starting in the 1990s, to defraud the Bank through favorable loans nominally in the name of Powell (“Powell Loan”), but which were intended to improperly, and illegally, benefit themselves and their companies, MPS Golf Course, Inc. and MPS Development, Inc. (collectively, “MPS”) (Compl. at 2-14, R. pp. 70-82). Most relevant to the discovery dispute and sanctions order that is the subject of this appeal, the Bank alleged that on March 22, 2012, Shepherd covertly approved a charge-off (“the Charge-Off”) of those loans in the amount of \$810,000. (*Id.* at 12-14 & Exs. M & N thereto, R. pp. 80-82, 116-119).

Respondent Shepherd answered on September 18, 2015, denying the Bank’s allegations related to the Charge-Off and alleging that the FDIC¹ mandated that the Bank charge-off the loan and that his actions and the FDIC’s actions were fully known to the

¹ FDIC is the “Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation”, which is a federal agency with regulatory authority over banking institutions, including the Bank here.

Bank's Board of Directors. (Answer of Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr. ("Shepherd Ans."), at 9-10, R. pp. 128-129). Among other defenses, Shepherd asserted that the statutes of limitations and repose barred the Bank's claims. (Shepherd Ans. at 12, R. p. 131). On January 27, 2016, the case was designated a business case and assigned to the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh.

On September 21, 2015, Shepherd served discovery requests on the Bank, which were timely answered on November 20, 2015. (See Shepherd's Motion to Compel Discovery ("Shepherd Mot. to Compel"), at 1, R. p. 265). Following entry of a Confidentiality Order, the Bank began to produce documents on February 10, 2016 and provided a privilege log on February 24, 2016. (See Shepherd Mot. to Compel at 2, R. p. 266). Shepherd filed his Motion to Compel Discovery on February 26, 2016, to which the Bank responded on March 11, 2016. (Pl.'s Return to Mot. to Def. Shepherd's Mot. to Compel Disc., R. pp. 292-330): No other defendant made such a motion.

The trial court heard Shepherd's Motion to Compel on March 15, 2016 and orally ordered the parties to complete certain discovery tasks that are detailed in the fact section of this brief. (Mar. 15, 2016 Hr'g Tr., R. pp. 1348-1395). The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh's oral orders were reduced to writing and memorialized in an August 1, 2016 Order on Motion to Compel Discovery ("August 2016 Order"). (See also *id.* at 43, lines 3 to 17, R. p. 1390).

On August 19, 2016, Shepherd served the Bank with his First Set of Requests to Admit, asking the Bank to make three admissions regarding the Charge-Off. On September 21, 2016, the Bank denied those requests to admit. (CFB's Resp. to Def. Shepherd's First Reqs. to Admit, R. pp. 1681-1684). Shepherd did not file any motion to compel further or

additional answers to the Requests to Admit. Following additional discovery, the Bank maintained its denials, but amended the responses to include additional explanation. (CFB's Am. Ans. to Shepherd's First Reqs. to Admit, June 9, 2017, R. pp. 1685-1688).

On September 29, 2016, Shepherd filed his Motion for Sanctions, alleging that the Bank had failed to comply with its discovery obligations and engaged in "willful disobedience" of the August 2016 Order. (Shepherd's Mot. for Sanctions at 1, R. p. 430). No other defendant filed a motion for sanctions.

On October 12, 2016, the Bank filed its Motion to Strike and for Sanctions Against Defendant Shepherd, asking the Court to strike Shepherd's Motion for Sanctions and award the Bank its fees and expenses incurred as a result of Shepherd's Motion. (Motion to Strike and for Sanctions Against Defendant Shepherd ("Bank's Mot. to Strike") at 2, R. p. 438).

Shepherd submitted his memorandum in support of his Motion for Sanctions on January 13, 2017. Shepherd alleged that there were both "willful and continued violations of discovery and of the Court's [August 2016] order. . . ." (Shepherd's Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Sanctions at 6, R. p. 608). The Bank responded in opposition on February 14, 2017. (Bank's Resp. in Opp'n to Sanctions Mot., R. pp. 848-1274). Shepherd replied on February 23, 2017.

The trial court conducted a hearing on the Motion for Sanctions on March 31, 2017. At the trial court's direction, on April 17, 2017 the Bank submitted a written response to issues raised at the hearing. (Resp. to Issues Raised at the Hr'g on the Parties' Cross-Mots. for Sanctions, R. pp. 1275-1291). Shepherd responded on April 24, 2017. (Shepherd's Return to the Bank's Resp., R. pp. 1292-1311).

On May 25, 2017, the trial court filed its Order on Defendant Frederick D. Shepherd's Motion for Sanctions ("May Sanctions Order"), calling for Shepherd to prepare a formal order. The trial court held a subsequent hearing on July 28, 2017.

On September 14, 2017 the trial court entered a Form 4 Order ordering the Bank to pay Shepherd \$64,920.04 in discovery sanctions and ordering counsel for McCoy to prepare an order including his fees and expenses. On November 13, 2017, the trial court ordered the Bank to pay \$64,920.04 in discovery sanctions. (Order on Shepherd's Mot. for Sanctions (hereinafter "Nov. Sanctions Order"), at 26-27, R. pp. 37-38).

On January 24, 2018, after the Bank entered a settlement agreement with Powell regarding the nearly \$1,000,000 owed to it in connection with the Powell Loan, the parties stipulated to voluntary dismissal without prejudice of the Bank's claims against Shepherd and McCoy.

On November 29, 2017, the Bank served its Notice of Appeal on Respondent Shepherd, appealing the November Sanctions Order as well as the May Sanctions Order (collectively, "Sanctions Orders"). (Notice of Appeal, R. p. 225).

FACTS

I. SHEPHERD DEFRAUDS THE BANK, AND THIS LAWSUIT AND EXTENSIVE AND DIFFICULT DISCOVERY ENSUES.

Shepherd was the Bank's President and CEO from its inception until December 31, 2014. (Compl. ¶ 14, R. p. 70). Starting in 1996, Shepherd caused the Bank to make loans to his business partner Powell that were actually for his personal benefit. Over time the loan balance was increased and extended without any principal payments, eventually

reaching a total of \$810,000.² (*Id.* ¶¶ 18-19, R. p. 71). Throughout Shepherd's employment, he concealed from the Bank (and its federal regulators, including the FDIC) these fraudulent and illegal loans nominally for others, but actually for Shepherd's personal benefit and at the expense of the Bank and its shareholders (to which Shepherd owed fiduciary and other duties). (*Id.* ¶¶ 18-76, R. pp. 71-82).³

In 2012, on the eve of delivery of a report from the FDIC, Shepherd caused the Bank to charge-off the Powell loan because there had been no principal payments since its inception. (Compl. ¶¶ 68-76, R. pp. 80-82). Shepherd accomplished this by having the Board of Directors approve a large number of charge-offs that included the Powell loan. (*Id.* ¶ 71, R. p. 81). At the time, the members of the Board did not know that they had permitted the charge-off. (*Id.* ¶ 72, R. p. 81; Second Affidavit of Richard D. Burleson at 2, R. p. 1692; Affidavit of Dr. Larry S. Bowman ¶¶ 12-19, R. pp. 1699-1701; Affidavit of John R. Hamrick ¶¶ 11-18, R. pp. 1740-1742). The FDIC's report ("FDIC Report") ultimately directed that the Powell loan be charged off. (Defs.' Ans. to Pl.'s Am. Compl. & Am. Countercls. ¶ 77, R. p. 165). Nowhere in the FDIC Report did the FDIC describe the Powell loan as a loan for the benefit of Shepherd because Shepherd had concealed its true nature. (*See id.* ¶¶ 34, 77, R. pp. 157, 165). In the FDIC Report, the FDIC also directed

² At the same time, also starting in 1996, Shepherd caused the Bank to make loans to another of his business partners, McCoy, that were actually for Shepherd's benefit. (Defs.' Ans. to Pl.'s Am. Compl. & Am. Countercls. ¶¶ 85-108, R. pp. 167-173). Over time, this loan was increased and extended without any principal payments, eventually reaching a total \$810,000. (*Id.*) All of these loans violated federal banking laws and Bank policy. (*See, e.g., id.* ¶ 165, R. pp. 185-186). In 2008, Shepherd caused the Bank to make another improper loan to McCoy, this time in the amount of \$2 million, again for Shepherd's personal benefit. (*Id.* ¶¶ 105-127, R. pp. 172-177).

³ The Bank and Shepherd are parties to lawsuit in the United States District Court for South Carolina, *Shepherd v. Community First*, Civil Action No. 8:15-CV-04337-DCC, relating to the Bank's cessation of payments to Shepherd under an employee benefit plan because of Shepherd's misconduct and violation of the terms of the Plan, which is governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. (*Id.*)

that a similar loan to McCoy be repaid because McCoy was the Bank's Chairman of the Board, a bank insider. (FDIC Report, R. pp. 705-706, 716, 716-727). Eventually, in 2014, the Board discovered the Powell loan had been charged off and, because Powell was Shepherd's business partner, required Powell to affirm the loan and begin making payments. (Bowman Aff. ¶ 18, R. p. 1700). In 2015, Shepherd's concealment became known to the Bank when Powell came forward and admitted the loan was for the benefit of Shepherd and McCoy and not for him. (*Id.*, Ex. A, R. pp. 1703-1705). Powell's admission meant that the Powell loan was an illegal loan under Federal Regulation O, which allows only certain loans to bank executives. (Defs.' Ans. to Pl.'s Am. Compl. & Am. Countercls. ¶ 165, R. pp. 185-186).

On August 21, 2015, the Bank filed the instant lawsuit against Powell, Shepherd, McCoy, and MPS in connection with their misconduct seeking to recover the Powell Loan, which was in default. (Compl., *passim*, ¶ 65.) Thereafter, the parties engaged in extensive document discovery. (*See, e.g.*, Bank's Resp. in Opp'n to Sanctions Mot., Ex. B-000069-70, R. pp. 954-955). Community First produced over 40,000 pages of documents to Shepherd and obtained and produced documents from other area banks through which Shepherd and his partners perpetuated their misconduct. (*See id.*, R. pp. 954-955). The Bank reviewed approximately 150,000 pages of documents in connection with its numerous document productions to Shepherd. (*See id.*, R. pp. 954-955).

The last of the documents produced by the Bank were documents which the Bank was not permitted to produce until permission was granted by the FDIC. The Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA") absolutely prohibited Community First from acknowledging the existence of and disclosing Confidentiality Supervisory Information ("CSI") and Suspicious Activity

Report (“SAR”) information,⁴ without permission under 12 C.F.R. § 309.6. After significant delay by the FDIC, which Shepherd’s counsel himself sought to remedy, the Bank produced the FDIC documents within approximately two weeks of receipt of permission. (See Bank’s Resp. in Opp’n to Sanctions Mot., Ex. B-000061, 64-65, 69-70, R. pp. 946-950, 954-955).

At issue in this appeal is the propriety of the \$64,920.04 in sanctions that the trial court ordered the Bank to pay to Shepherd for the Bank’s alleged failure to comply with the August 1, 2016 Order compelling discovery, primarily related to the timing of the production of the FDIC documents. The Bank complied in full with the August 2016 Order, but the trial court sanctioned the Bank for what it termed “discovery abuse” related to issues not addressed in the August 2016 Order. (Mar. 31, 2017 Hr’g Tr. at 111, line 4, R. p. 1506). The difficult discovery process in this case arises from its unique posture, where the Bank was constrained and delayed in the discovery process by restrictive federal laws and the fact that Shepherd, not current Bank management, had been the custodian of the pertinent records from the Bank’s founding until January 2015. Notably, other than Shepherd (who was the Bank’s President and CEO in 2012) and McCoy (who was the chairman of the Bank’s Board in 2012) “none of the living members of the Bank’s Board of Directors who were members of the Board during the period the Powell loan was charged-off recall, at any time, discussing or approving the charge-off.” (Bank’s Am. Ans. to Shepherd’s First Reqs. to Admit, June 9, 2017, at 2-3, R. pp. 1686-1687). Moreover, the “only Board member to sign a document evidencing the charge-off of the Powell loan was Defendant Shepherd.” (*Id.*, R. pp. 1686-1687). Indeed, Shepherd “was the President

⁴ As a former President and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, Shepherd knew this as well.

and CEO of Community First Bank since its inception, [so] he, better than current management, knows what is and what is not in existence.” (Bank’s Mot. to Strike, Ex. D thereto at 2, R. p. 470).

As the Bank explained to the trial court:

Regulation O says a bank officer can’t borrow money from the bank except for certain reasons, and he’s got to disclose to the board, and the board has to approve that he’s getting the money, or she’s getting the money.

Well, what this case is about, Your Honor, is about a loan that was made to John Powell a long time ago that wasn’t John Powell’s. It was Fred Shephard’s [sic] and Jim McCoy’s and John Powell’s together. In violation for 20 years of Federal law. And when Mr. Shephard got caught, he was out of the bank.

So what happened before December 31st, 2014, when he walked out of the bank for the last time? Well, we don’t know, Your honor. Because there are records all over the place that should have been, that we thought were, that he was responsible for, that ain’t no more. There are electronic files that used to be someplace that are gone.

[Shepherd’s counsel] says, well, we got this Power Point, where are the rest of them? Where are the rest of them? Where – we aint’ got them, Your Honor.

Now, we got suspicion as to why they’re gone, but they’re gone. [Shepherd] complains about, well, there’s all this board stuff, things that the board members do. Where are they? Where are they? We know they exist, we know they exist.

We don’t know. But we know who was in charge of them before the end of December 2014, and that was Fred Shephard.

(Mar. 31, 2017 Hr’g Tr. at 75, lines 4 to 25, at 76, lines 1 to 7, R. pp. 1470-1471).

Notwithstanding the difficult discovery process, however, the Bank plainly complied with all of the Court’s orders relating to discovery, including the August 2016 Order.

II. THE COURT ISSUES DIRECTIVES AT THE HEARING ON A MOTION TO COMPEL WITH WHICH COMMUNITY FIRST COMPLIES.

The August 2016 Order originated from a March 15, 2016 hearing on a Motion to Compel filed by Shepherd. During that hearing, the trial court gave directives to the Bank to complete four tasks and Shepherd to complete one task (“Hearing Directives”):

- **Attribution.** The trial court ordered the Bank to “Bates stamp that seventy-five-hundred documents. . . [and] attribute them to a particular production request or an interrogatory. . . .” (Mar. 15, 2016 Hr’g Tr. at 13, lines 18 to 25, R. p. 1360).
- **Privilege Log.** The trial court required the Bank to clarify “if there is a particular privilege being claimed, . . . to assert that privilege for that particular question or production request.” (*Id.* at 24, lines 6 to 14, R. p. 1371).
- **Board Minutes.** The trial court ordered the Bank to either provide unredacted minutes of meetings of its board of directors or submit those minutes for in camera review. (*Id.* at 22, lines 16 to 23, at 23, lines 1 to 3, R. pp. 1369-1370; *id.* at 25, lines 19 to 25, at 26, lines 1 to 2, R. pp. 1372-1373).
- **“Missing” Documents.** The trial court ordered Shepherd to “write a[n] itemized list of documents” that he contended he “didn’t receive” and also request clearer copies of documents that the Bank had originally retrieved from microfiche. Within thirty days of receipt, the Bank was to respond to those supplemental requests. (*Id.* at 28, lines 21 to 25, R. p. 1375, at 30, lines 2 to 5, R. p. 1377).

Of significance to the Sanctions Orders (including, the November Sanctions Order), during the hearing Shepherd's counsel expressed knowledge and familiarity with the various FDIC documents which the Bank was not permitted to produce, including making specific reference to the existence of the FDIC Report. (*Id.* at 33, lines 2 to 25, at 34, lines 1 to 4, R. pp. 1380-1381). Further, Shepherd was well aware of the documents because he was the president and CEO during the relevant period when the FDIC was investigating the Bank and issuing its report. (*See, e.g.*, Bank's Resp. in Opp'n to Sanctions Mot., Ex. B-000047-57, 59-60, 63-66, Ex. A, R. pp. 932-942, 944-45, 948-951; Mar. 15, 2016 Hr'g Tr. at 33, lines 4 to 6, R. p. 1380). In fact, Shepherd received, reviewed, and signed the FDIC Report. (Bank's Resp. in Opp'n to Sanctions Mot., Ex. B-000063-66 at 66, R. pp. 948-951, 951).

Following the hearing, the parties exchanged correspondence which confirmed their understanding of the Court's Hearing Directives. (*See id.*, Ex. B-000002-13, R. pp. 887-899). The parties thereafter worked together to address Shepherd's continued complaints. As will be discussed, *infra*, the Bank complied with all of the hearing directives prior to the entry of the Court's August 2016 Order with the exception of issues that Shepherd was improperly seeking documents which the Bank was not directed to provide.

III. THE COURT MEMORIALIZES ITS HEARING DIRECTIVES IN THE AUGUST 2016 ORDER, WITH WHICH COMMUNITY FIRST HAS ALREADY COMPLIED.

On July 28, 2016, the Hearing Directives were reduced to writing and memorialized in the August 2016 Order. Pursuant to that order, the Bank was to complete the Hearing Directives no later than August 31, 2016—or, for documents that Shepherd contended were

illegible or requested but not received, within 30 days of Shepherd making his request. (Aug. 2016 Order at 3-4, R. pp. 3-4). The August 2016 Order directed Shepherd to provide Community First a list of “specific documents” he contended he was entitled to, but had not, received from the Bank, and thereafter the Bank was to produce the documents to the extent they existed. (*Id.* at 3, R. p. 3).

Because Community First believed it had fully complied with the requirements of the August 2016 Order through its compliance with the Hearing Directives during the approximate 4 ½ month period between the hearing on the Motion to Compel and the August 2016 Order, Community First wrote to counsel for Shepherd seeking a confirmation of that fact. (Bank’s Resp. in Opp’n to Sanctions Mot., Ex. B-000032-33, R. pp. 917-918). Shepherd responded by agreeing that Community First had complied as it related to everything but the redactions and the documents to be produced pursuant to Shepherd’s list because “we have yet to send the list,” (*Id.*, Ex. B-000034-35, R. pp. 919-920), completely ignoring lists he had delivered to the Bank on March 23 and March 31, 2016, with regard to which Community First had complied.

IV. COMMUNITY FIRST COMPLIES WITH FDIC DIRECTIVES.

Because of Shepherd’s insistence that all Board Minutes be produced in completely unredacted form, and knowing that the BSA absolutely prohibited Community First from disclosing CSI and SAR information, the Bank contacted the FDIC pursuant to Section 309.6 and requested permission to disclose the BSA information. In response, the FDIC provided the Bank with its directives about what it could, and could not disclose. The FDIC also sent a confidential letter to the Court dated August 24, 2016, which apparently outlined the scope of the FDIC’s instructions. (Bank’s Resp. in Opp’n to Sanctions Mot.,

Ex B-000039, R. p. 924). On August 29 and 30, 2016, the Bank produced a revised set of Board Minutes, redacted in accordance with the FDIC's instructions. In response, the Court issued an email stating that the Bank appeared to be in compliance with that portion of the August 2016 Order. (*Id.*, R. p. 924).

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