**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002472

---

Community First Bank,..... Appellant,

v.

John M. Powell, Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James E. McCoy,  
MPS Golf Course, Inc., and MPS Development, Inc.,  
Of whom, Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., is.....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Austin F. Watts  
Douglas F. Patrick  
**Douglas F. Patrick, P.A.**  
211 Pettigru St.  
Greenville, S.C. 29601

*Attorneys for Respondent*

**RECEIVED**  
APR 25 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

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

During the course of discovery, the Bank delayed the case from moving past the initial discovery phase by shifting its discovery burden to Shepherd. It failed to produce and identify documents, claiming full compliance with the discovery rules, unless Shepherd could identify additional documents. These documents were then produced as part of a "rolling production." This conduct made it impossible to determine if the Bank was finished with its document production. The Bank ultimately produced 19 different productions over a span of almost 18 months. *Id.* at 4.

Importantly, the *Discovery Order* put an end to the "rolling production" by mandating

documents produced by a certain date. After that date came and went, the Bank produced the redacted April 2012 meeting minute, the 2012 FDIC Report, and a multitude of other Bank documents relevant to the dispute in violation of the Order.

The Bank claims its “rolling production” was proper under the discovery rules, citing RULE 26(e) which places a duty on party to supplement responses with subsequent information.<sup>2</sup> The trial court properly found this argument as meritless. The Bank mischaracterizes the Rule, as it expressly contemplates an initial *complete* response, not one *continual* response. (*Sanctions Order I* at pg.2, *Sanctions Order II* at pg. 22.)

Additionally, this argument lacks credibility. The Bank did not conduct its “rolling production” in order to produce documents as soon as possible, but in an effort to delay discovery and keep its lawsuit alive by only producing documents specifically requested. Only through the persistence of Shepherd’s discovery efforts and motions did the Bank eventually produce documents that were detrimental to its case.

Lastly, the parties were warned at the hearing on Shepherd’s *Motion to Compel*, and in the *Discovery Order*, that discovery abuse would result in the imposition of sanctions. The *Discovery Order* required the parties to keep track of related time and costs.

Thus, the evidence supported issuing sanctions for the discovery nature of the case. During the entire course of litigation, the Bank conducted a pattern of discovery abuse that included failing to produce documents, not listing documents on privilege logs, and shifting its discovery burden. The Bank’s pattern of discovery abuse created intentional delays and obviated discovery.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Bank also asserts Shepherd was “principal custodian of records” at the Bank (Appellant Br. at 22.) This assertion is not found anywhere in the Record on Appeal.

***B. The Bank Willfully Withheld Documents that Directly Contradicted its Allegations***

The Bank's discovery abuse was willful. It withheld documents that directly contradicted allegations in its *Complaint* and subjected the lawsuit to dismissal on the statute of limitations. The Bank's discovery abuse was designed to withhold damaging documents, and not identify them on its privilege logs, as a means to maintain its lawsuit.

The most egregious example of the willful nature of the Bank's discovery abuse was its conduct surrounding the 2012 FDIC Report. The Bank never listed it on a privilege log, never addressed requests for its production in correspondence, and failed to produce it until December of 2016.

The substance of the report directly refuted the Bank's "fraudulent charge-off" allegations-- that Shepherd clandestinely and unilaterally charged-off the loan. The Report notified the Bank that the FDIC required the Powell charge-off, and each Board of Director at the Bank signed the Report acknowledging this requirement.

Additionally, the Bank withheld internal documents discussing and tracking the Powell charge-off, including the April 2012 Board meeting minutes. This meeting minute also directly refuted allegations. It illustrated the Board voted on, and unanimously approved, the Powell loan charge-off.

The Bank withheld the 2012 FDIC document, April 2012 meeting minutes, and other Bank documents that discussed the Powell loan because each had adverse implications on the case. The Bank, however, argues their withholding of these documents, and failure to identify these documents on a privilege log, is the result of FDIC banking regulations. The Bank primarily argues 12 C.F.R. § 309 prevented the disclosure of documents.

This argument misconstrues the FDIC regulations. 12 C.F.R. § 309, entitled "Disclosure

of Information,” explains what a party should do when faced with a discovery request for FDIC documents in that party’s custody. According to 12 C.F.R. § 309.7, a party must notify the court and requesting attorney of the documents and refer each to § 309. The Bank did not follow the directions of these sections, which are-- not coincidentally --written on the cover page of the 2012 FDIC Report.

If the Bank followed § 309, it would have notified the court and Shepherd’s attorneys of this document, placed it on a privilege log, and referred the parties to the FDIC regulation. The Bank did the opposite: it failed to notify anyone of the documents in its custody, failed to list it as protected, and maintained silence after repeated requests for its production. The Bank cannot use Regulation § 309 to shield it from sanctions for hiding documents.

The Bank additionally asserts the trial court notified the parties that the Bank was in compliance with the FDIC regulations. While the Bank is correct the trial court stated the Bank complied with FDIC regulations, the statement referred only to previously redacted meeting minutes, and not other FDIC documents such as the Report.

More particularly, Shepherd’s *Motion to Compel* complained of heavily redacted meeting minutes. The FDIC responded to the trial court’s directive to produce less redacted meeting minutes on August 24, 2016, stating it reviewed the meeting minutes and the redactions implicated by the Bank Secrecy Act (BSA) only. After this communication, the trial court found remaining redactions complied with the FDIC review. This is the sole communication in the record from the FDIC. (*Sanctions Order II* at 24.) There are no communications from the FDIC regarding a Confidential Supervisory Information (CSI) privilege, Regulation § 309, or instruction not to identify or produce documents. *Id.*

Finally, the Bank’s actions after the production of these documents provide further proof

of willful discovery abuse. The Bank could only maintain its allegations while withholding documents that contradicted its allegations. Shortly after their production, the Bank switched its story in briefing and stated to the trial court that the Powell loan charge-off was approved at the April 2012 board meeting.

***C. The Discovery Abuse Substantially Prejudiced Shepherd***

“The rights of discovery provided by the Rules give the trial lawyer the means to be prepared for trial.” *Downey*, 294 S.C. at 46. “Where these rights are not accorded, prejudice must be presumed...” *Id.* The party who failed to follow discovery rules must demonstrate a lack of prejudice. *See id.*

In the case at bar, the Bank’s *Complaint* alleged Shepherd began misconduct in the 1990’s. Given that witnesses disappear, memories fade, and documents vanish; time was certainly of the essence. The Bank caused intentional, significant delays by obviating discovery. Given the staleness of its allegations, the Bank would be expected to streamline discovery, but it did the exact opposite. It delayed the case against retiree Shepherd to require extra time and money fighting for documents in discovery that were irrefutably discoverable from the outset of the litigation, while simultaneously withholding his earned retirement benefits.

The Bank contends that Shepherd was not prejudiced because he ultimately received the documents before trial. This argument ignores the deadline in the *Discovery Order*. This deadline effectively prevented the Bank’s “rolling production,” a year after discovery commenced.

Significantly, after the detrimental documents were produced the Bank changed its story and refuted its own assertion of a fraudulent charge-off. Ultimately, this led to the dismissal

of the case. If the documents were produced earlier, the Bank's actions demonstrate the case could have been dismissed much sooner. The Bank's abrupt change in position would have spared Shepherd the time spent fighting the allegations and relieved him of the financial pressures of a discovery battle.

In sum, the Bank's willful discovery abuse prejudiced Shepherd through additional delays and costs. Not only did the trial court properly determine the facts supported that Shepherd was prejudiced, the Bank failed to rebut the presumption of prejudice.

***D. The Sanction was Narrowly Tailored, Avoiding Prejudice to the Bank***

"...[W]hatever sanction is imposed should serve to protect the rights of discovery provided by the Rules." *Downey*, 294 S.C. at 45. "[O]verleniency [in the imposition of sanctions] is to be avoided where it results in inadequate protection of discovery." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). "[T]he sanction should be reasonable, and the Court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of the case."

For the Bank's willful discovery abuse, the trial court could have reasonably imposed any of the sanctions authorized under RULE 37 of the SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, including striking allegations in pleadings or preventing the Bank from supporting its claims. The trial court, instead, looked leniently on the Bank and chose to only award attorney fees and costs to Shepherd for the additional expenses associated with the Bank's discovery abuse. (San. Hr'g tr. at 116:10-11.)

The trial court "bent over backwards" to: (1) hold a hearing in which the amount of attorney fees and costs were contested after the Bank failed to timely seek a determination on that issue; and (2) allowed the Bank to respond to alleged newly-asserted issues at the sanctions hearing. The results of the hearing were favorable to the Bank, as the trial court

reduced the amount of the sanction by over 50%. (Fees hr'g tr. at 13:6-9.) The trial court also specifically excluded their responses to the Request to *Admit* as part of its underlying basis for sanctions. (*Sanctions Order II* at 20.)

This lenient sanction allowed the Bank to continue with the merits of its lawsuit without prejudice. The sanction imposed was reasonable and narrowly tailored to remedy only Shepherd's additional costs caused by the Bank's discovery abuse.

**E. *The Imposition of Sanctions is Supported by Public Policy***

South Carolina has a policy favoring the imposition of penalties against parties whose conduct may warrant sanctions. *See Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. Partnership*, 334 S.C. 96, 123-24 (Ct. App. 1998) Imposing sanctions for discovery abuse acts as a deterrent, increasing the likelihood of others being deterred from similar conduct in the future. *Id.*

This policy recognizes the discovery phase of litigation works in two instances, when parties are honorable or fearful. If parties who are not honorable believe they are immune from consequences, then discovery becomes largely ineffective. Without the fear present in sanctioning discovery misconduct, dishonorable parties have no reason to comply with the discovery rules.

In the case at bar, did Shepherd get the Bank's damaging documents after requests at the inception of discovery? after the *Motion to Compel*? before the court-ordered deadline? The answer to all of these questions is, "No."

It took the threat of punishment, after the filing of a motion seeking sanctions, before the Bank identified and produced these documents. The production of these documents allowed Shepherd to file a dispositive motion, and, not coincidentally, resulted in the dismissal of the Bank's case.

For Shepherd, the cases resolution came much too late, as earlier production would have likely ended the lawsuit much earlier. Imposing sanctions on the Bank for its willful discovery abuse comports with public policy and provides a future deterrent for parties who may consider discovery gamesmanship in the future.

## **II. THE BANK WAIVED ITS ARGUMENTS AS TO THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS DISCOVERY ORDER**

### **A. The Bank Waived Challenges to the Discovery Order**

The Bank has waived any challenge to the trial court's *Discovery Order* that forms the basis for the sanctions. Not only has the Bank failed to appeal that Order, the Bank failed to preserve these arguments by following the well-settled procedure necessary to appeal a discovery order.

“An order directing a party to participate in discovery is interlocutory and not directly appealable...” *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 281 (2014) (internal citations omitted). “[T]o challenge the specific rulings of the discovery orders, the normal course is to refuse to comply, suffer contempt, and appeal from the contempt finding. *Id.* at 280. If a party continues in discovery, accepting the circuit court’s formulation of discovery, that decision forms the law of the case, and binds the party. *Id.* at 281.(internal citations omitted). An appeal of a subsequent sanctions order forecloses issues on the merits of the underlying discovery orders and the only reviewable question on appeal is whether sanctions were properly awarded. *Id.*

In this discovery dispute, the Bank failed to challenge the trial court’s underlying *Discovery Order* by refusing to comply. Quite the opposite, the Bank continued with its delay tactics by making multiple “rolling” document productions. These “rolling” productions,” though incomplete responses, accepted the trial court’s formulation of

discovery and became the law of the case.

Since the Bank failed to follow the well-settled procedure for challenging the trial court's Discovery Order, it has waived these arguments.

**B. The Discovery Order was Clear on its Mandates**

Even if this Court decides that the Bank has not waived its arguments as to the *Discovery Order*, the arguments fail because there was nothing vague or unclear about the Order itself. The order merely compelled production of the same documents the parties disputed over since the inception of discovery.

The *Discovery Order* required Shepherd to send the Bank a list of documents he contended he requested but had not received, and the Bank was in turn to produce those documents within 30 days of receipt of the list. Shepherd's list contained no documents that he had not repeatedly requested in correspondence with the Bank, briefing with the Court, and at the hearing on the *Motion to Compel*. The identical documents requested were documents pertaining to meeting minutes, investigations, the 2012 FDIC report, insider loans, loan documents, and charge-off related documents. Given the Bank's allegations of a fraudulent charge-off and insider treatment of the Powell loan, it is fairly obvious what documents were being requested.

The Bank asserts the *Discovery Order* was unclear and vague because it interpreted the Order as mandating Shepherd to request "specific" documents and Shepherd allegedly requested "categories" of documents. Notwithstanding the Bank's failure to have its interpretation of the Order clarified, the Court properly rejected that argument as inconsistent with discovery practice and rules. (*Sanctions Order II* at 21.) To require the degree of specificity required by the Bank would ultimately render discovery mostly

impossible. According to the Bank, Shepherd had to identify each and every document for production. This argument effectively shifts the burden to Shepherd to specifically identify documents to be produced, which contravenes discovery rules that only require requests to be reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Additionally, the Bank argues that the *Discovery Order* is an infringement on due process restrictions and represents an unauthorized delegation of the trial court's authority. Each of these arguments are newly raised on appeal, not preserved, but, nevertheless, fail of their own accord. The imposition of sanctions did not violate due process because the Bank was punished for willfully withholding documents detrimental to its case, not for confusion on what the order mandated. And the trial court did not delegate its authority; it merely compelled production of discoverable documents Shepherd previously requested.

In sum, the Bank has waived any challenge to the trial court's Discover Order. The Bank failed to appeal the *Discovery Order* and did not follow the well-settled procedure for appealing a discovery ruling. Even if the Bank's arguments regarding the Discover Order are not waived, they fail because the *Discovery Order* was clear in its mandates.

### CONCLUSION

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